Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Michelle R. Fletcher

Date

How Women Living with HIV (WLWH) Respond to and Manage HIV-Related Stigma

By

Michelle R. Fletcher Master of Public Health

Hubert Department of Global Health

Sophia A. Hussen Committee Chair

Whitney S. Rice

Committee Member

How Women Living with HIV (WLWH) Respond to and Manage HIV-Related Stigma

By

Michelle R. Fletcher

Bachelor of Science California State University, East Bay 2017

Thesis Committee Chair: Sophia A. Hussen, MD

Thesis Committee Member: Whitney S. Rice, DrPH

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Public Health in Hubert Department of Global Health

2020

Abstract

How Women Living with HIV (WLWH) Respond to and Manage HIV-Related Stigma

By

Michelle R. Fletcher

Background. HIV-related stigma interventions for people living with HIV in the United States focus largely on coping, disclosure, social support, and adherence self-management skills. Women are disproportionately impacted by HIV-related and intersectional stigma. Few interventions focus on effective stigma response and management strategies currently used by women living with HIV (WLWH).

Objective. To understand how WLWH respond to and manage HIV-related stigma in order to inform intervention development.

Methods. Between June and December 2015, 76 qualitative interviews focusing on HIV-stigma were conducted among WLWH in San Francisco, CA, Atlanta, GA, Jackson, MS, and Birmingham, AL. Interviews were recorded, transcribed, and coded thematically to elucidate and categorize strategies for responding to stigma.

Results. We identified four strategies: (1) <u>HIV education</u>: women provided information about HIV transmission and living with HIV to family members, friends, and the community, to dispel misconceptions; (2) <u>Selecting Relationships</u>: women built relationships with people who provided non-judgmental, affirming support, and physically removed themselves from people they identified as negative, including those who perpetuate HIV-related stigma; (3) <u>Resistance:</u> women advocated for themselves or other WLWH by responding to experienced stigma with assertive language or behavior; and (4) <u>Disclosure:</u> some women avoided HIV-related stigma by choosing to not inform others of their HIV status.

Conclusion. Further research should examine the relative utility of these, and other strategies used by WLWH for responding to and managing HIV-stigma. These approaches to addressing stigma may be leveraged in stigma reduction interventions to achieve greater equity and better health outcomes for WLWH.

Acknowledgements

There have been so many amazing people who have supported me throughout this journey. First, let me start by thanking the man upstairs. Without Him, none of this would have been possible.

To my family and friends, thank you for all your love, without your support I would not be where I am today.

Thank you to the amazing people and faculty mentors I have met at Rollins. Special shoutout to my amazing thesis buddies, Christine and Busola, without your constant support and words of encouragement I do not know if I would have made it. Also, thank you to my ADAP Flavia. Flavia you have played such an integral part in my success at Rollins and always pushed me outside my comfort zone which I needed.

Thank you to my thesis chair, Dr. Sophia Hussen, for your support and guidance during my past two years at Rollins.

Finally, thank you to the phenomenal Dr. Whitney Rice for a) being an amazing mentor throughout this process, b) believing in me and seeing my light even when I didn't see it myself, and c) pushing me to be the best during this process. Thank you for taking a chance on me, providing constant support, and guiding me on this journey. I am forever grateful.

How Women Living with HIV (WLWH) Respond to and Manage HIV-Related Stigma

By

Michelle R. Fletcher

Bachelor of Science California State University, East Bay 2017

Thesis Committee Chair: Sophia A. Hussen, MD

Thesis Committee Member: Whitney S. Rice, DrPH

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Public Health in Hubert Department of Global Health

2020

Table of Contents

Chapter 1: Review of Literature	1
Background and Significance of Stigma	1
Stigma and Health	1
Stigma Impact on Population Health	3
Stigma Impact on Women Living with HIV (WLWH)	3
Approaches to Addressing HIV-Related Stigma	4
Existing Stigma Interventions for WLWH	5
Importance of Stigma Management	6
Problem Statement	7
Purpose Statement	8
Chapter 2: Manuscript	9
Student Contribution	0
Abstract	1
Introduction 12	2
Methods1	5
Study Population	5
Sampling and Recruitment Strategies15	5
Data Collection	6
Data Analysis	6
Ethics Statement	6
Results	6
Participant Characteristics	7
HIV-Related Education	7
Selecting Relationships	9
Resistance	0
Disclosure	2
Discussion	3
Chapter 3: Conclusions and Recommendations	6
References	8

Chapter 1: Review of Literature

Background and Significance of Stigma:

Stigma and Health

Stigma has previously been defined as the "social process [in which] individuals with socially undesirable attributes or identities are seen as having lower social value than others and as a consequence face prejudice and discrimination" (B. Turan et al., 2017). There are several types of stigma including enacted stigma (experiences of discrimination and prejudice from others), perceived stigma (individual perceptions of stigma within a community), internalized stigma (having negative beliefs of themselves as a result of experienced feelings like blame and shame), and anticipated stigma (belief that others will treat them differently because of disease status) (B. Turan et al., 2017). In recent stigma research the concept of intersectional stigma, stigma based on other aspects of identity like gender, race, class, and sexual orientation, has been identified as another form of stigma that can function in the presence of other types of stigma (B. Turan et al., 2017). Intersectional stigma considers how these factors function together, as a form of oppression, opposed to separately in relation to health conditions (Logie, James, Tharao, & Loutfy, 2011). Addressing stigma from this lens provides a comprehensive perspective in addressing health disparities that disproportionately impact underserved and marginalized communities (Logie et al., 2011; J. M. Turan et al., 2019).

Additionally, stigma impacts health at multiple socio-ecological levels, specifically at the individual, interpersonal, community, and structural levels. Individual level factors include personal attitudes, thoughts and beliefs that impact health outcomes (Fletcher et al., 2016). Interpersonal factors can function within relationships as social support and social dynamics that

impact health behavior (B. Turan et al., 2017). An example of this could be non-disclosure of one's disease status to others to avoid anticipated or perceived stigma (B. Turan et al., 2017). Social networks at the community level and discriminatory policies, programs and laws at the structural level can impact health behavior and facilitate stigma (Fletcher et al., 2016; Moloney, Brown, Ciciurkaite, & Foley, 2019). At the macro level, structural stigma can impact marginalized communities through unequal and inequitable access to services, resources, and opportunities (B. Turan et al., 2017).

Frameworks have since been developed to address the role and function of health-related stigma at these various levels. Stangl et al. (2019) developed The Health Stigma and Discrimination Framework addressing the health and social impacts of stigmatization across the socio-ecological model while considering both health-related and other intersecting stigmas such as those based on race, gender, class, sexual orientation and poverty. The framework is broken down into three main areas: (1) drivers and facilitators, factors that can be viewed as negative or positive depending on circumstance; (2) stigma marking, the application of stigma on specific groups based on disease status or other differences such as gender, race, class, etc.; and (3) stigma manifestation, resulting in experienced stigma and discrimination (Stangl et al., 2019). All of these categories lead to health outcomes that directly impact marginalized communities. The authors note that this framework ideally should be utilized prior to stigmatizing experiences as a prevention strategy, however, once stigma has been enacted the focus needs to shift to mitigating and reducing stigma (Stangl et al., 2019). In the context of HIV-related stigma, this framework could be applied in addressing drivers such as perceived risky behavior and fear of transmission that are reinforced by current laws and criminalization of HIV among different

groups such as men who have sex with men (MSM) and people who inject drugs (PWID) (Stangl et al., 2019).

Stigma Impact on Population Health

Stigma has been identified as a barrier to seeking out health care services and social support. Link and Phelan (2006) identify five ways in which stigma functions within public health including: identifying differences between groups of people, stereotyping, creating separation between groups, discrimination, and exerting power over others. They also note that when each of these domains function together there is an impact on an individual's overall wellbeing (Link & Phelan, 2006). Additionally, once a disease has been identified as undesirable, the impact of disease-associated stigma in conjunction with other factors like race, age and socioeconomic status can be detrimental at both the individual and communal levels (Link & Phelan, 2006).

Stigma Impact on Women Living with HIV (WLWH)

HIV-related stigma impacts women living with HIV (WLWH) at the individual, interpersonal, communal and structural levels, often manifesting in forms of oppression and discrimination. The psychological impact of social stigma can be detrimental to mental health, self-esteem, and overall well-being for WLWH (W. S. Rice et al., 2018). Mental health conditions like depression have been identified as mediators to HIV-related stigma with disengagement and isolation from others as a means to cope with stigma (Rueda et al., 2016). Lack of social support has been identified as facilitator of HIV-related stigma for women; and women experiencing lack of social agency and feeling unvalued by society may experience more perceived and internalized HIV-related stigma (Cuca et al., 2017). Social stigma directly impacts WLWH in which they are sometimes rejected by family and friends after disclosing their HIV status (Kontomanolis, Michalopoulos, Gkasdaris, & Fasoulakis, 2017).

For women of color, HIV-related stigma can manifest in forms of microaggression and stereotypes, especially for women who come from underrepresented and marginalized backgrounds. Women are often blamed for their HIV diagnoses due to misconceptions (about HIV transmission and community perceptions of HIV), resulting in discrimination in both health care and personal settings (Sangaramoorthy, Jamison, & Dyer, 2017). Literature suggests that factors like age, race and ethnicity, and built environment impact women's perceptions of stigma and discrimination (Sangaramoorthy et al., 2017). For Black women living with HIV, existing stereotypes about promiscuity and excessive substance use and addiction reinforce these manifestations and have a direct impact on health care seeking behavior and finding support from others (Sangaramoorthy et al., 2017).

Approaches to Addressing HIV-Related Stigma:

There has been significant progress in assessing and addressing HIV-related stigma globally, however, gaps still exist. Stangl, Lloyd, Brady, Holland, and Baral (2013) conducted a systematic literature review of various strategies and approaches to address HIV-related stigma, finding that the majority of studies focus on stigma reduction (removing or relieving socio-ecological factors that impact health outcomes) rather than stigma management (acknowledging and regulating stigma perceptions from others and oneself). Target populations often include health care workers, students, and community members (Stangl et al., 2013). Few interventions focus on key populations for fighting the HIV epidemic such as WLWH. Most interventions utilize skill and information-based strategies to reduce HIV-related stigma targeting primarily at individual and interpersonal levels while community-based interventions focus on understanding

perceptions (Mannell, Cornish, & Russell, 2014; Stangl et al., 2013). Although many studies reported seeing a reduction in stigma post-intervention, the majority of the scales that were utilized to measure change in stigma over time are un-validated. Additionally, current validated HIV-related stigma scales focus primarily on one domain such as drivers of stigma (ex: fear of infection) rather than assessing stigma from a multifaceted, intersectional lens (Stangl et al., 2013). Although interventions focus on removing drivers and facilitators of stigma, there are additional factors that cannot always be accounted for such as structural components. As a result, there has been a push to look at various stigma domains at the same time. To fully understand how stigma impacts individual and population-level health, intersectional stigma must be incorporated into interventions and stigma reduction strategies (W. S. Rice et al., 2018; Stangl et al., 2019).

Existing Stigma Interventions for WLWH:

Current HIV-related stigma interventions for women globally and in the United States offer strategies on reducing stigma at individual and community levels. One intervention conducted in Southeast Nigeria assessed whether creating peer support groups for PLWH (majority women) within a health care setting would aid in reducing self-stigma and increasing social support. Study activities took place over the course of one month and compared people who participated in support groups to those who did not. They found that there were minimal differences in self-stigma and disclosure patterns between persons in the non-peer and peer support groups, however, socioeconomic status differed greatly in which individuals of a lower status experienced greater stigmatization compared to those of a higher status (Chime, Arinze-Onyia, & Ossai, 2019). This suggests that future HIV-related stigma interventions may need to address structural factors in conjunction with individual and interpersonal factors.

A mixed-methods study was conducted to assess the impact of community centered hubs in health care facilities for HIV stigma reduction among adults in North West Province, South Africa (Prinsloo, Greeff, Kruger, & Khumalo, 2017). The intervention lasted five months during which study participants were exposed to HIV stigma theory, how stigma functions and manifests and how to cope when experiencing HIV-related stigma (Prinsloo et al., 2017). At the close of the study they found there was a slight decrease in HIV-related stigma at the interpersonal and community levels, however, these findings were not significant (Prinsloo et al., 2017).

A study by (Barroso et al., 2014) found that sharing common experiences among Black WLWH living in the Deep South an advantageous strategy in reducing stigma and building resiliency among women. Women were given iPods and were expected to listen to stories and reflections of other WLWH including experiences surrounding disclosure, acceptance of their status and engaging with health care providers and other clinical staff over the course of 90 days. After the intervention, they found that women felt a personal connection with the stories and improved their self-efficacy including disclosing their HIV status to family and friends for the first time (Barroso et al., 2014).

Importance of Stigma Management:

Stigma management has been described as "a proactive and intentional [way of] controlling others' understanding of a stigmatized condition" (Moloney et al., 2019). Meisenbach (2010) proposes the Stigma Management Communication (SMC) theory focusing on the acceptance and denial of existing stigma based on an individual's identity. SMC theory has three propositions: (1) forms of stigma exist based on perceptions of people who both enact and experience stigma, (2) stigmas can change over time, and (3) stigma severity can vary based on circumstance (Meisenbach, 2010).

The SMC typology also introduces stigma management strategies including: acceptance, stigmatized persons acknowledging and accepting the existence of stigma and how it may apply to them; avoidance, passively distancing oneself from stigmatizing experiences; evading responsibility, deflecting or changing public opinion of stigma; reducing offensiveness, wanting to change stigma perceptions of others though sub-strategies like refocusing or minimizing stigma; and denial, ignoring stigma's applicability to oneself (Meisenbach, 2010). A study conducted in Boston and Washington, D.C. focusing on disclosure stigma management of women with disabilities in the workplace found management of identity (related to disability and other factors like age and ethnicity) as a way to counteract stereotyping played an integral role in self-preservation when experiencing stigma (Moloney et al., 2019). Additionally, a study from New York assessed how heterosexual, serodiscorant couples manage HIV-related stigma. They found that anticipated and experienced stigma exists for both the partner living with HIV and the HIV-negative partner (Siegel, Meunier, & Lekas, 2018). The identified stigma management strategies identified were educating family and friends about HIV transmission misconceptions, seeking support outside of their immediate social networks, avoiding people who they believed would invoke stigmatizing language about their HIV positive partner and not disclosing the HIV status of their partner (Siegel et al., 2018).

Problem Statement:

HIV-related stigma interventions for people living with HIV in the United States focus largely on coping, disclosure, social support, and adherence self-management skills. Women are disproportionately impacted by HIV-related and intersectional stigma. Few interventions focus on effective stigma response and management strategies currently used by WLWH.

Purpose Statement:

The purpose of this project is to understand how WLWH respond to and manage HIV-related stigma in order to inform intervention development.

Chapter 2: Manuscript

How Women Living with HIV (WLWH) Respond to and Manage HIV-Related Stigma

By

Michelle R. Fletcher, MPH Candidate

Hubert Department of Global Health, Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University Atlanta, GA

Sophia A. Hussen, MD

Hubert Department of Global Health, Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University Atlanta, GA

Whitney S. Rice, DrPH

Behavioral, Social, & Health Education Sciences, Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University Atlanta, GA

STUDENT CONTRIBUTION

All data collection and initial thematic analysis for the Women's Adherence and Visit Engagement (WAVE) sub-study was completed prior to beginning this thesis. Several papers have already been published using this dataset. My contribution to this project focused on understanding the ways women living with HIV (WLWH) respond to and manage HIV-related stigma using sub-codes for the main stigma and discrimination code. A secondary analysis of sub-codes of the original STIGMA/DISCRIMINATION code (i.e. INFORM, ISLOATE, RETALIATATION, and NOT EXPERIENCED) was performed. Segments from each sub-code were retrieved, reviewed, categorized into topics, and finally developed into themes. The emerged themes from those codes included education, support and relationships, assertiveness, and non-disclosure that were related to women's experienced HIV-related stigma and discrimination.

ABSTRACT

Background. HIV-related stigma interventions for people living with HIV in the United States focus largely on coping, disclosure, social support, and adherence self-management skills. Women are disproportionately impacted by HIV-related and intersectional stigma. Few interventions focus on effective stigma response and management strategies currently used by women living with HIV (WLWH). Objective. To understand how WLWH respond to and manage HIV-related stigma in order to inform intervention development. Methods. Between June and December 2015, 76 qualitative interviews focusing on HIV-stigma were conducted among WLWH in San Francisco, CA, Atlanta, GA, Jackson, MS, and Birmingham, AL. Interviews were recorded, transcribed, and coded thematically to elucidate and categorize strategies for responding to stigma. Results. We identified four strategies: (1) HIV education: women provided information about HIV transmission and living with HIV to family members, friends, and the community, to dispel misconceptions; (2) Selecting Relationships: women built relationships with people who provided non-judgmental, affirming support, and physically removed themselves from people they identified as negative, including those who perpetuate HIV-related stigma; (3) Resistance: women advocated for themselves or other WLWH by responding to experienced stigma with assertive language or behavior; and (4) Disclosure: some women avoided HIV-related stigma by choosing to not inform others of their HIV status. **Conclusion.** Further research should examine the relative utility of these, and other strategies

used by WLWH for responding to and managing HIV-stigma. These approaches to addressing stigma may be leveraged in stigma reduction interventions to achieve greater equity and better health outcomes for WLWH.

INTRODUCTION

Women are disproportionately impacted by HIV, especially in the US South ((CDC), 2016), likely in part due to the stigma faced by women at risk for and living with HIV (WLWH) at individual, interpersonal, communal and structural levels, often manifesting in forms of oppression and discrimination (Fletcher et al., 2016). Stigma has previously been defined as the "social process [in which] individuals with socially undesirable attributes or identities are seen as having lower social value than others and as a consequence face prejudice and discrimination" (B. Turan et al., 2017). Stigma can be categorized into experienced (enacted) stigma (experiences of discrimination and prejudice from others), perceived stigma (perceptions of stigma within a community), internalized stigma (having negative beliefs toward oneself as a result of experienced feelings like blame and shame), anticipated stigma (expectation that others will treat them differently because of disease status), and intersectional stigma (based on other aspects of identity like gender, race, class, and sexual orientation) (B. Turan et al., 2017). Intersectional stigma, specifically, considers how these different identities can function together, as a form of oppression, opposed to independently in relation to health conditions (Logie et al., 2011). For WLWH, intersectional stigma addresses and acknowledges the co-existence of HIV status, gender, and race which affects women of color living with HIV and associated health outcomes.

For women of color, HIV-related stigma can manifest in forms of microaggression and stereotypes, especially for women who come from underrepresented and marginalized backgrounds. Women are often blamed for their HIV diagnoses due to misconceptions (about HIV transmission and community perceptions of HIV), resulting in discrimination in both health care and personal settings (Sangaramoorthy et al., 2017). Literature suggests that factors like age, race and ethnicity, and built environment impact women's perceptions of stigma and discrimination (Sangaramoorthy et al., 2017). For Black women living with HIV, existing stereotypes about promiscuity and excessive substance use and addiction reinforce these manifestations and have a direct impact on health care seeking behavior and finding support from others (Sangaramoorthy et al., 2017).

The psychological impact of social stigma can be detrimental to mental health, selfesteem, and overall well-being for WLWH (W. S. Rice et al., 2018). Mental health conditions like depression have been identified as mediators to HIV-related stigma with disengagement and isolation from others as a means to cope with stigma (Rueda et al., 2016). Lack of social support has been identified as a facilitator of HIV-related stigma for women; and women experiencing lack of social agency and feeling unvalued by society may experience more perceived and internalized HIV-related stigma (Cuca et al., 2017). Social stigma directly impacts WLWH in which they are sometimes rejected by family and friends after disclosing their HIV status (Kontomanolis et al., 2017).

Furthermore, stigma impacts WLWH at multiple socio-ecological levels, specifically at the individual, interpersonal, community, and structural levels. Frameworks including The Health Stigma and Discrimination framework were developed to inform stigma reduction research and efforts. This framework, in particular, depicts the health and social impacts of stigmatization across the socio-ecological levels while acknowledging health-related and intersectional stigma (stigma based on race, gender, class, sexual orientation and poverty) (Stangl et al., 2019). The theory behind this framework can be utilized when addressing HIVrelated stigma for women. The majority of studies regarding approaches to address HIV-related stigma focus on stigma reduction (measuring the decrease in stigma over time) rather than stigma management (the acceptance or rejection of public stigma as it related to oneself) (Rao et al., 2018; Smith & Bishop, 2019). Very few of these studies focus on WLWH (Stangl et al., 2013).

The Stigma Management Communication (SMC) theory was developed to address stigma through different strategies for managing stigma (Meisenbach, 2010). The SMC is based on three underlying assertions : (1) forms of stigma exist based on perceptions of people who both enact and experience stigma, (2) stigmas can change over time, and (3) stigma severity can vary based on circumstance (Meisenbach, 2010). The SMC typology also introduces stigma management strategies including: acceptance, stigmatized persons acknowledging and accepting the existence of stigma and how it may apply to them; avoidance, distancing oneself from stigmatizing experiences; evading responsibility, deflecting or changing public opinion of stigma; reducing offensiveness, wanting to change stigma perceptions of others though sub-strategies like refocusing or minimizing stigma; and denial, ignoring stigma's applicability to oneself (Meisenbach, 2010). Stigma management studies have previously focused on various subpopulations including persons with workplace disabilities, families impacted by drug use, and children of incarcerated parents (Luther, 2016; Moloney et al., 2019). In these studies, researchers found that the decision to remove oneself from stigmatizing experiences was directly related to coping mechanisms as a stigma management tool (Luther, 2016).

There is a current gap in knowledge of how stigma management strategies can be employed for WLWH. Exploring the ways women employ various strategies when reacting to HIV-related stigma is crucial when developing programs and interventions targeting stigma management. To better understand this gap, this study seeks to recognize the ways WLWH respond to, cope with and manage HIV-related stigma.

METHODS

Study Population

The Women's Adherence and Visit Engagement (WAVE) is a sub-study of the Women's Interagency HIV Study (WIHS), a large prospective cohort study following HIV disease progression among WLWH in the United States (Adimora et al., 2018). WAVE focuses on understanding gaps that exist in HIV-related stigma research for women and examining the impact of stigma on HIV medication adherence and use of health care services. The original WAVE sub-study methodology has been described previously (W. S. Rice et al., 2018; W. S. Rice et al., 2019). This secondary analysis will focus on understanding the ways in which women respond to and manage HIV-related stigma and discrimination.

Sampling and Recruitment Strategies

WIHS staff recruited WLWH for the WAVE sub-study at semi-annual study visits in: San Francisco, CA (University of California, San Francisco); Atlanta, GA (Emory University); Birmingham, AL (University of Alabama at Birmingham) and Jackson, MS (University of Mississippi Medical Center). The original study team established a purposive sampling target of 75 qualitative interviews, to account for the varied social and demographic statuses of WLWH in the United States, with specific attention to representing diversity of geographic location, race, Hispanic/Latinx ethnicity and income level. Women were eligible to participate if they were living with HIV, over the age of 18, spoke English, and were able to provide written informed consent.

Data Collection

Between June and December 2015, trained WAVE staff conducted 76 qualitative in-depth interviews averaging 73 minutes each. The interview guide facilitated conversation about previous stigmatizing experiences using open-ended questions such as: "Can you describe a time when you felt stigmatized or discriminated against?" and "What stereotypes do you hear about women living with HIV?". Interviewees were also asked to share their perspectives about how HIV-related stigma functions in their everyday life and how they manage any associated stigma. All interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim post interview. Study participants received a \$30 cash incentive for their participation.

Data Analysis

All transcripts were de-identified, coded thematically, and analyzed by the WAVE qualitative analysis team (WSR, TMN, MW, AWB). A secondary analysis of sub-codes of the original STIGMA/DISCRIMINATION code (i.e. INFORM, ISLOATE, RETALIATATION, and NOT EXPERIENCED) was performed (by MRF). Segments from each sub-code were retrieved, reviewed, categorized into topics, and finally developed into themes. The emerged themes from those codes included education, support and relationships, assertiveness, and non-disclosure that were related to women's experienced HIV-related stigma and discrimination.

Ethics Statement

All WAVE study procedures were carried out with approval of the Institutional Review Boards at the University of California, San Francisco, Emory University, the University of Alabama at Birmingham, and the University of Mississippi Medical Center. Signed written informed consent was obtained from all participants at each site. All study personnel were trained on the HIPAA Privacy Rule and in procedures for maintaining confidentiality, and security regarding the use of computers to access study files, acceptable means of communication with other team members about the study, and regarding reporting and dissemination of study findings.

RESULTS

Participant Characteristics

Among the 76 interviews, 25 were conducted at each of the Atlanta and San Francisco sites, and 13 were conducted each of at the Jackson and Birmingham sites. The majority of participants identified as Black (n=46), were over the age of 45 (n=50) and had attended at least some high school (n=65). Most women had a monthly income below \$2000 (n=65) and at least one child (n=52).

The participants spoke at length about strategies employed in their lives to manage HIVrelated stigma. The key strategies that emerged were: educating others about HIV, selecting relationships, resisting experienced HIV-related stigma through advocacy and assertive language and behavior, and disclosure of HIV status.

HIV-Related Education

Many women reported feeling the need to educate other people in their lives about HIV. Gaps highlighted by these participants included transmission misconceptions and a lack of knowledge around the topic of HIV in general, especially regarding risk perceptions for women. The individuals receiving this education included partners, family, friends, and the communities in which they lived. Within interpersonal relationships, many women talked about family members and friends being hesitant to have them around. Some women attributed this to lack of knowledge and understanding regarding what it means to be living with HIV. In response, women chose to provide additional information to the people in their lives. One participant shared:

My family were a little terrified of me. I told them. I said, "You are more harmful to me than I could ever be to you. The whole world is more harmful to me than I could ever be to it. It is an illness like any other illness. I would probably live longer than you because I take better care of myself"...it took them a while to adapt to me and have me around. I waited a long time to...not have to wear gloves at the Christmas dinner and Thanksgiving dinner because I wanted to help, but everybody is afraid...I might put something in blood or something. (Black Participant, Age 55, Jackson, MS)

Participants also explained the need for education at the community level. Some women described experiences speaking to children at local schools to share their experiences and inform students about HIV and potential risk factors. Women also expressed concern that much of the HIV-related information being received in these communities was inaccurate and coming from unreliable media sources, often prompting the women in the current study to speak on behalf of WLWH to correct misinformation. One woman stated:

I mean like I tell a lot of people when I sit back and I hear other people talking sometimes. I say that's why I say there are a lot of HIV classes for you to find out information ... People have this opinion and people have that opinion. Sometimes I try to clear opinions up. I'll be like I took this class and I took that class, so I know. I tell them that I am positive, but they don't know. You watch certain pictures on TV and you don't know what's going on. (Black Participant, Age 51, Birmingham, AL) Some women also expressed that women of color are viewed and treated differently as compared to their counterparts in society due to HIV and related intersecting stigma. Black and Latina women discussed community stereotypes that assume monolithic experiences and circumstances around women's acquisition of HIV. As a result, women felt the need to share more about their personal story to dispel these norms. One participant stated:

...when I listen to conversations, a lot of time when people talking about AIDS or HIV, it's very negative and they just kind of look at black women as being stupid and careless and reckless and poor, yeah, just sleep around and women are wild, too...I find myself always educating it seems all the time, like almost in every setting that I'm in... I try to bring something in my experience and nine times out of ten, people have, are really being ignorant and non-factual. (Black Participant, Age 44, Atlanta, GA)

Selecting Relationships

Many participants expressed a desire to distance themselves from other people as a way to avoid stigma. Some women attributed their own tendency toward social distancing to an introverted personality, while other women attributed self-removal to previously experienced stigma. Women indicated that the challenges of adjusting to life with HIV, coupled with introversion and/or previous experiences of stigma, contributed to their cautious outlook on relationships with others. One participant stated:

I always want to be very open with friends and family. I really learned that not everybody is your friend. You cannot trust everybody. That everybody is different. Everybody is going to have their own opinion. For me, it kind of makes me—I used to be shy. I have been shy. Like I am not very open person. I don't know. I think it makes me feel a little bit afraid of opening myself totally to new people and friends, new relationships. Yes, for me, having HIV I think pulls me back for so many things. I am not the woman or the young girl that I used to be before HIV... (Latina Participant, Age 41, San Francisco, CA)

Women also expressed concern about maintaining distance in relationships to prevent unwanted stress and emotional labor. When they did encounter negativity and insults from people in their lives, they removed themselves and simply stopped engaging in conversation with that individual regarding their HIV status. One participant shared:

The negative ways? I don't feel that it has really impacted my life much because ... as said, people that are negative about everything. I try not to even speak on a subject such as this with them. I know that I'm living with it... my health as of right now, the way I feel, I'm fine. I don't have anything. I know I have to take the medicine for it in order for it to stay that way. I try to stay away from their negativity. That's why I only told a limited amount of people that I know wouldn't be negative about everything. They would be positive and speak positive things to me. (Black Participant, Age 46, Jackson, MS)

Resistance

<u>Advocacy</u>

Participants shared the need to speak up on behalf of other WLWH. Some women identified political lobbying and writing to political leaders as one method to support and work towards creating change on a larger scale. In contrast, other women talked about working directly in the community they live in and engaging with local organizations already doing social justice and advocacy work for WLWH. One participant shared: I stand up for every woman. I don't like anyone to mistreat any woman. I don't care who she is. If she's being mistreated, not being treated right, or being fair, that was part of my being an advocate. As an advocate, I had to learn what our rights were, volunteering with [legal organization where participant lives]. They would bring those workshop to us and teach us what our rights were that we could stand up for. I stood up for every woman. I don't play that. You don't mistreat a woman. It'll hurt me if you mistreat another woman, especially if she's HIV positive. I take that personally, yes I do. (Latina Participant, Age 50, Atlanta, GA)

Assertiveness

Women also explained feeling the need to retaliate against other people when they are on the receiving end of an insult, microaggression, or another offense of some kind. Some participants noted that lashing out either verbally or through their behavior was a way to cope with the experienced event. One participant reflected on an incident with her family and stated:

I heard them in the kitchen talking about me. 'What she drunk out of?' 'I don't know but I let her use the bathroom and everything.' I overheard them talking about me and I got real damned stupid for real. Honey...I went touching the walls and said... 'You're going to need to move the fuck out. The walls infected, the sofa infected, all your vehicles and everything'...I said 'y'all need to get up out this damned house you done paid for because it's infected with HIV' and that's what I told them. I laughed so bad up in there... (Black Participant, Age 48, Birmingham, AL)

Avoid Retaliation

Some participants indicated concern about being condemned for their HIV status. Additionally, women talked about finding seroconcordant partners in order to avoid potential legal ramifications such as jail time if their HIV status was not disclosed prior to a sexual encounter. One participant stated:

I just won't want to mess with no one that is HIV negative. That's risky business. Even though you might of told them your status...and then the minute they get infected they can go tell the law...She didn't tell me! Who the law going to believe? That person. And there I go 20 [years] ...might be the rest of my life...I think people that are HIV positive and if you're going to be with someone HIV negative...the best place to tell it is in the doctor's office for the doctor to say. Just in case he or she decides they want to get mad with you and say you didn't tell them? They can't go put the law on you and the law is throwing you away forever. (Black Participant, Age 48, Birmingham, AL)

Disclosure

Some women expressed that they had not experienced any forms of stigma or discrimination related to their HIV status, gender, or race. It was notable that these participants were much less likely to have openly disclosed their HIV status. Women expressed choosing not to disclose their HIV status to people outside of their doctor, other clinic staff, or a couple of close friends or family members. When asked about her experiences related to HIV stigma, one woman said:

...nobody really knows my status, obviously, unless I tell them. So I really don't get that stigma because nobody knows..If they knew, they probably would... (Black Participant, Age 55, Birmingham, AL) It should be noted that there were other participants who had disclosed to others, and felt supported by the people in their lives that were aware of their HIV status. These women explained that their friends and family had accepted them and did not treat them differently because of their status. One participant stated:

My older sister said...it's no different than having cancer or anything else. Somebody has to take medication for everything. It's no different than having high blood pressure, cancer, leukemia. It's all just another disease. It's another name for it... (Black Participant, Age 43, Atlanta, GA)

DISCUSSION

Current stigma management literature has minimal focus on WLWH. Additionally, current approaches to address HIV-related stigma concentrate on reducing stigmatizing experiences. The key findings from this analysis highlight the ways WLWH respond to and manage HIV-related stigma: namely, through educating others, being selective in relationships, resisting stigma and avoiding disclosure.

The results suggested that women responded to HIV-related stigma through educating peers about misinformation regarding HIV transmission (ex. notions that modes of HIV transmission include non-intimate physical touch, sharing cups and utensils, and touching inanimate objects), regarding HIV risk among women, and regarding stereotypes about women of color living with HIV (ex. women are promiscuous and abuse their bodies). Fear of transmission due to a lack of accurate information has been described previously as a driver of HIV-related stigma, especially towards WLWH (Chambers et al., 2015). In a recent systematic

review, Ingram et al. (2019) explained that to help mitigate these drivers further intervention is needed at both the interpersonal and community levels to challenge perceptions regarding risk factors for women and HIV acquisition. These findings emphasis how WLWH may act as agents for interventions focused on changing risk perceptions within communities as a way to address misinformation. Furthermore, these findings also highlight the utility in assisting stigma management and reduction efforts, specifically domains focusing on stigma elimination or evading responsibility (Meisenbach, 2010).

The second finding focused on how WLWH decided when to disengage with others to avoid anticipated stigma and unwarranted stress as a result from previously experienced stigma. This finding is similar to the avoidance management strategy of the SMC theory in which individuals will distance themselves from other to get rid of stigma-related behavior (Meisenbach, 2010). In the context of this study, women chose to disengage with people who perpetuated HIV-related stigma, negativity, were judgmental and not supportive. Current literature suggests that experiencing stressful situations and encounters with other can contribute to poorer health outcomes for people living with HIV such as lack medication adherence and increased substance use (Reif et al., 2011). Although this analysis focused on women's responses to HIV-related stigma, it is important to acknowledge and assess the relationship between stress and self-removal.

Chambers et al. (2015) found that self-efficacy and resilience in challenging views and opinions towards WLWH were related to engagement in social advocacy work. The findings from this analysis are similar; our participants actively combated stigma through advocacy work (ex: politically lobbying and volunteering), retaliating against others when experiencing microaggressions related to their HIV status and engaging in sexual relationships with others that are HIV positive to avoid negative ramifications of stigma such as jail time for not disclosing their status. Current media platforms and community organizations focused on activism for people living with HIV utilize their platforms in public settings to create social change (Gillett, 2003). Additionally, non-profit organizations targeting HIV prevention and well-being among Black women like SisterLove and the Black AIDS Institute focus specifically on the intersection of HIV and other factors such as race and gender that drive societal inequities for marginalized communities through their advocacy work, aligning with sentiments expressed by women in this study (Watkins-Hayes, 2014).

The final way women responded to HIV-related stigma was by selective HIV status disclosure. Current literature around disclosure of disease status notes that it is a personal choice and an individual is more likely to disclose their status if they find it to be beneficial (Moloney et al., 2019). This aligns with the findings of this study in which women noted not experiencing HIV-related stigma as a result of: a) non-disclosure (beyond clinic staff) and b) acceptance, love and support from close family members and friends who were non-judgmental after disclosing. Other studies have also noted that social networks impact disclosure patterns for WLWH such that women who have positive social support from the people in their lives are more inclined to share their HIV status (E. Rice, Comulada, Green, Arnold, & Rotheram-Borus, 2009). Disclosing one's status has also been associated with a decreased mental health conditions such as depressive disorders for WLWH (Vyavaharkar et al., 2011).

This study is not without limitations. The women were sampled from a larger study of women actively engaged in care; therefore, their experiences may be different than women who are not engaged in research (W. S. Rice et al., 2018). For example, women who are not attending regular study and follow-up visits related to their HIV may have different experiences that are not captured. This study also has a couple of key strengths. Participants were diverse in terms of race and ethnicity, income level, and location in terms of women living in urban and rural areas of the United States which provided a detailed and multi-layered perspective into the lived experiences of WLWH. Current HIV stigma management research focuses medication adherence and HIV prevention which is integral in understanding ways to keep women engaged in care (Rintamaki et al., 2019; Siegel et al., 2018). This analysis is novel because the ways women are responding to stigmatizing HIV-related experiences is assessed and can be used to inform future management and reduction research.

Women are disproportionately impacted by HIV in the United States. However, few interventions focus on understanding the ways that women cope with and manage HIV-related stigma as well as strategies for responding to HIV-related and other intersecting stigma. Current research addressing HIV-related stigma for people living with HIV focus primarily on recognizing stigma, reducing stigma, medication adherence and improving self-efficacy (Stangl et al., 2013). Understanding the ways women employ various strategies when reacting to HIV-related stigma is crucial when developing programs and interventions targeting stigma management.

Chapter 3: Conclusions and Recommendations

HIV-related stigma management for WLWH is understudied although women are disproportionately impacted by HIV. Current strategies focus largely on understanding the function and coexistence of multiple stigmas at individual, interpersonal, community, and institutional levels to reduce stigma and build resilience (Stangl et al., 2013). The analysis from this study found that WLWH respond to and manage HIV-related stigma through educating others, being selective in relationships, resisting stigma and avoiding disclosure. WLWH provided information about HIV transmission and living with HIV to family members, friends, and the community, to dispel misconceptions; built relationships with people who provided nonjudgmental, affirming support, and physically removed themselves from people they identified as negative, including those who perpetuate HIV-related stigma; advocated for themselves or other WLWH by responding to experienced stigma with assertive language or behavior; and chose to not inform others of their status to avoid anticipated stigma. Future stigma management research should focus on exploring how stigmas are viewed by the public in addition to how individuals view themselves with an emphasis on intersectional stigma (Meisenbach, 2010). It is essential that interventions target the many stigma management and communication strategies to holistically address the multiple forms of stigma that disproportionately impact WLWH (Meisenbach, 2010). Using this approach to address stigma may leveraged in stigma reduction interventions to achieve greater equity and better health outcomes for WLWH. Understanding the ways women employ various strategies when reacting to HIV-related stigma is crucial when developing programs and interventions targeting stigma management.

References

- (CDC), C. f. D. C. a. P. (2016). HIV in the Southern United States. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/hiv/pdf/policies/cdc-hiv-in-the-south-issue-brief.pdf
- Adimora, A. A., Ramirez, C., Benning, L., Greenblatt, R. M., Kempf, M. C., Tien, P. C., . . .
 Gange, S. (2018). Cohort Profile: The Women's Interagency HIV Study (WIHS). *Int J Epidemiol, 47*(2), 393-394i. doi:10.1093/ije/dyy021
- Barroso, J., Relf, M. V., Williams, M. S., Arscott, J., Moore, E. D., Caiola, C., & Silva, S. G.
 (2014). A randomized controlled trial of the efficacy of a stigma reduction intervention for HIV-infected women in the Deep South. *AIDS Patient Care STDS*, 28(9), 489-498. doi:10.1089/apc.2014.0014
- Chambers, L. A., Rueda, S., Baker, D. N., Wilson, M. G., Deutsch, R., Raeifar, E., . . . Stigma Review, T. (2015). Stigma, HIV and health: a qualitative synthesis. *BMC Public Health*, 15, 848. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-2197-0
- Chime, O. H., Arinze-Onyia, S. U., & Ossai, E. N. (2019). Examining the effect of peer-support on self-stigma among persons living with HIV/AIDS. *Pan Afr Med J*, 34, 200. doi:10.11604/pamj.2019.34.200.17652
- Cuca, Y. P., Asher, A., Okonsky, J., Kaihura, A., Dawson-Rose, C., & Webel, A. (2017). HIV Stigma and Social Capital in Women Living With HIV. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care, 28(1), 45-54. doi:10.1016/j.jana.2016.09.001
- Fletcher, F., Ingram, L. A., Kerr, J., Buchberg, M., Bogdan-Lovis, L., & Philpott-Jones, S.
 (2016). "She Told Them, Oh That Bitch Got AIDS": Experiences of Multilevel
 HIV/AIDS-Related Stigma Among African American Women Living with HIV/AIDS in
 the South. *AIDS Patient Care STDS*, 30(7), 349-356. doi:10.1089/apc.2016.0026

- Gillett, J. (2003). Media activism and Internet use by people with HIV/AIDS. *Sociol Health Illn*, 25(6), 608-624. doi:10.1111/1467-9566.00361
- Ingram, L., Stafford, C., Deming, M. E., Anderson, J. D., Robillard, A., & Li, X. (2019). A Systematic Mixed Studies Review of the Intersections of Social-Ecological Factors and HIV Stigma in People Living With HIV in the U.S. South. *J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care*, 30(3), 330-343. doi:10.1097/JNC.0000000000000076
- Kontomanolis, E. N., Michalopoulos, S., Gkasdaris, G., & Fasoulakis, Z. (2017). The social stigma of HIV-AIDS: society's role. *HIV AIDS (Auckl)*, 9, 111-118. doi:10.2147/HIV.S129992
- Link, B. G., & Phelan, J. C. (2006). Stigma and its public health implications. *The Lancet,* 367(9509), 528-529. doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(06)68184-1
- Logie, C. H., James, L., Tharao, W., & Loutfy, M. R. (2011). HIV, gender, race, sexual orientation, and sex work: a qualitative study of intersectional stigma experienced by HIV-positive women in Ontario, Canada. *PLoS Med*, 8(11), e1001124.
 doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001124
- Luther, K. (2016). Stigma Management among Children of Incarcerated Parents. *Deviant Behavior*, *37*(11), 1264-1275. doi:10.1080/01639625.2016.1170551
- Mannell, J., Cornish, F., & Russell, J. (2014). Evaluating social outcomes of HIV/AIDS interventions: a critical assessment of contemporary indicator frameworks. *J Int AIDS Soc, 17*, 19073. doi:10.7448/IAS.17.1.19073
- Meisenbach, R. J. (2010). Stigma Management Communication: A Theory and Agenda for Applied Research on How Individuals Manage Moments of Stigmatized Indentity.

Journal of Applied Communication Research, 38(3), 268-292. doi:10.1080/00909882.2010.490841

- Moloney, M. E., Brown, R. L., Ciciurkaite, G., & Foley, S. M. (2019). "Going the Extra Mile":
 Disclosure, Accommodation, and Stigma Management among Working Women with
 Disabilities. *Deviant Behav*, 40(8), 942-956. doi:10.1080/01639625.2018.1445445
- Prinsloo, C. D., Greeff, M., Kruger, A., & Khumalo, I. P. (2017). HIV stigma experiences and stigmatisation before and after a HIV stigma-reduction community "hub" intervention. *Afr J AIDS Res, 16*(3), 203-213. doi:10.2989/16085906.2017.1349683
- Rao, D., Kemp, C. G., Huh, D., Nevin, P. E., Turan, J., Cohn, S. E., . . . French, A. L. (2018).
 Stigma Reduction Among African American Women With HIV: UNITY Health Study. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr, 78(3), 269-275. doi:10.1097/QAI.000000000001673
- Reif, S., Mugavero, M., Raper, J., Thielman, N., Leserman, J., Whetten, K., & Pence, B. W. (2011). Highly stressed: stressful and traumatic experiences among individuals with HIV/AIDS in the Deep South. *AIDS Care, 23*(2), 152-162. doi:10.1080/09540121.2010.498872
- Rice, E., Comulada, S., Green, S., Arnold, E. M., & Rotheram-Borus, M. J. (2009). Differential disclosure across social network ties among women living with HIV. *AIDS Behav*, 13(6), 1253-1261. doi:10.1007/s10461-009-9554-x
- Rice, W. S., Logie, C. H., Napoles, T. M., Walcott, M., Batchelder, A. W., Kempf, M. C., . . .
 Turan, J. M. (2018). Perceptions of intersectional stigma among diverse women living with HIV in the United States. *Soc Sci Med*, *208*, 9-17.
 doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.05.001

- Rice, W. S., Turan, B., Fletcher, F. E., Napoles, T. M., Walcott, M., Batchelder, A., . . . Turan, J. M. (2019). A Mixed Methods Study of Anticipated and Experienced Stigma in Health Care Settings Among Women Living with HIV in the United States. *AIDS Patient Care STDS*, 33(4), 184-195. doi:10.1089/apc.2018.0282
- Rintamaki, L., Kosenko, K., Hogan, T., Scott, A. M., Dobmeier, C., Tingue, E., & Peek, D.
 (2019). The Role of Stigma Management in HIV Treatment Adherence. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, *16*(24). doi:10.3390/ijerph16245003
- Rueda, S., Mitra, S., Chen, S., Gogolishvili, D., Globerman, J., Chambers, L., . . . Rourke, S. B. (2016). Examining the associations between HIV-related stigma and health outcomes in people living with HIV/AIDS: a series of meta-analyses. *BMJ Open*, *6*(7), e011453. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011453
- Sangaramoorthy, T., Jamison, A., & Dyer, T. (2017). Intersectional stigma among midlife and older Black women living with HIV. *Cult Health Sex*, 19(12), 1329-1343. doi:10.1080/13691058.2017.1312530
- Siegel, K., Meunier, E., & Lekas, H. M. (2018). The experience and management of HIV stigma among HIV-negative adults in heterosexual serodiscordant relationships in New York City. *AIDS Care, 30*(7), 871-878. doi:10.1080/09540121.2018.1441971
- Smith, R. A., & Bishop, R. E. (2019). Insights into stigma management communication theory: considering stigmatization as interpersonal influence. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 47(5), 571-590. doi:10.1080/00909882.2019.1675894
- Stangl, A. L., Earnshaw, V. A., Logie, C. H., van Brakel, W., L, C. S., Barre, I., & Dovidio, J. F.(2019). The Health Stigma and Discrimination Framework: a global, crosscutting

framework to inform research, intervention development, and policy on health-related stigmas. *BMC Med*, *17*(1), 31. doi:10.1186/s12916-019-1271-3

- Stangl, A. L., Lloyd, J. K., Brady, L. M., Holland, C. E., & Baral, S. (2013). A systematic review of interventions to reduce HIV-related stigma and discrimination from 2002 to 2013: how far have we come? *J Int AIDS Soc, 16*(3 Suppl 2), 18734. doi:10.7448/IAS.16.3.18734
- Turan, B., Hatcher, A. M., Weiser, S. D., Johnson, M. O., Rice, W. S., & Turan, J. M. (2017).
 Framing Mechanisms Linking HIV-Related Stigma, Adherence to Treatment, and Health
 Outcomes. *Am J Public Health*, *107*(6), 863-869. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2017.303744
- Turan, J. M., Elafros, M. A., Logie, C. H., Banik, S., Turan, B., Crockett, K. B., . . . Murray, S. M. (2019). Challenges and opportunities in examining and addressing intersectional stigma and health. *BMC Med*, *17*(1), 7. doi:10.1186/s12916-018-1246-9
- Vyavaharkar, M., Moneyham, L., Corwin, S., Tavakoli, A., Saunders, R., & Annang, L. (2011).
 HIV-disclosure, social support, and depression among HIV-infected African American women living in the rural southeastern United States. *AIDS Educ Prev, 23*(1), 78-90. doi:10.1521/aeap.2011.23.1.78
- Watkins-Hayes, C. (2014). Intersectionality and the Sociology of HIV/AIDS: Past, Present, and Future Research Directions. *The Annual Review of Sociology*(40), 16. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-071312-145621